
SENATE BILL NO. 350—SENATORS DENIS, WOODHOUSE,
D. HARRIS AND DONDERO LOOP

MARCH 18, 2019

JOINT SPONSORS: ASSEMBLYMEN TORRES, THOMPSON, FLORES,
CARRILLO, NEAL; BENITEZ-THOMPSON, DURAN AND MARTINEZ

Referred to Committee on Education

SUMMARY—Revises provisions relating to Nevada Promise Scholarships. (BDR 34-308)

FISCAL NOTE: Effect on Local Government: No.
Effect on the State: No.

~

EXPLANATION – Matter in *bolded italics* is new; matter between brackets *[omitted material]* is material to be omitted.

AN ACT relating to higher education; revising provisions governing the awarding of Nevada Promise Scholarships; creating the Nevada Promise Scholarship Program to be administered by the Board of Regents of the University of Nevada; authorizing the Board of Regents to waive certain requirements for eligibility for certain students who are granted a leave of absence from the Program; revising the eligibility criteria for a student to receive a Nevada Promise Scholarship; revising provisions governing the disbursement of money from the Nevada Promise Scholarship Account; eliminating provisions requiring a community college to maintain certain records relating to Nevada Promise Scholarships; and providing other matters properly relating thereto.

Legislative Counsel’s Digest:

1 Under existing law, a community college is authorized, but not required, to
2 award Nevada Promise Scholarships to students who meet certain requirements for
3 eligibility. (NRS 396.965, 396.9665) This bill transfers authority for the awarding
4 of Nevada Promise Scholarships from each community college to the Board of
5 Regents of the University of Nevada. **Section 9** of this bill creates the Nevada
6 Promise Scholarship Program for the purpose of awarding Nevada Promise
7 Scholarships and requires the Board of Regents to administer the Program.



8 Under existing law, Nevada Promise Scholarships must be used to pay the
9 difference between the amount of the registration fee and other mandatory fees a
10 community college charges to a student and the total amount of any other gift aid
11 the student receives for the school year. (NRS 396.968) **Section 4** of this bill
12 defines "registration fee and other mandatory fees." **Section 15** of this bill repeals
13 the term "school year" as it relates to the Nevada Promise Scholarship Program and
14 **sections 9-12** of this bill replace it with the term "academic year." **Section 2** of this
15 bill defines the term "academic year."

16 Under existing law, if a community college chooses to award Nevada Promise
17 Scholarships, it is required to perform certain specified duties, including holding
18 training meetings for scholarship applicants and establishing a mentoring program,
19 or entering into an agreement with a nonprofit organization or governmental entity
20 to perform those duties. (NRS 396.965, 396.9655) **Sections 9, 10 and 15** of this bill
21 remove provisions specifying these duties and instead require the Board of Regents
22 to adopt regulations governing the Program.

23 Existing law sets forth the requirements a student must meet to be eligible to
24 receive or renew a Nevada Promise Scholarship. (NRS 396.9665, 396.967) **Section**
25 **15** repeals the provision requiring that a student renew a Nevada Promise
26 Scholarship each year. **Section 10** instead provides that a student remains eligible
27 for a Nevada Promise Scholarship so long as he or she meets certain prescribed
28 requirements. **Section 10** also decreases the number of hours of community service
29 that a student must perform, from 20 hours before receiving a scholarship and 20
30 hours each year the student receives a scholarship to 8 hours before receiving a
31 scholarship and 8 hours each semester the student receives a scholarship. **Section**
32 **10** similarly decreases the number of training meetings a student must attend from
33 two meetings to one meeting. **Sections 9 and 10** remove deadlines for a student to
34 complete certain requirements for eligibility for a Nevada Promise Scholarship and
35 instead require the Board of Regents to adopt regulations prescribing such
36 deadlines.

37 Existing law requires a student to be less than 20 years of age and have
38 obtained a high school diploma or a general equivalency diploma or equivalent
39 document to be eligible to receive a Nevada Promise Scholarship. (NRS 396.9665)
40 **Section 10** requires that a student have obtained a high school diploma or
41 successfully completed the high school equivalency assessment selected by the
42 State Board of Education before 20 years of age to be eligible to receive a Nevada
43 Promise Scholarship.

44 **Section 5** of this bill authorizes the Board of Regents to grant a student a leave
45 of absence from the Program under certain circumstances and waive certain
46 requirements for eligibility in the Program for a student who has been granted a
47 leave of absence.

48 Existing law creates the Nevada Promise Scholarship Account and requires
49 each participating community college to award Nevada Promise Scholarships in
50 accordance with certain procedures for determining the amount of a scholarship for
51 each eligible student and requesting a disbursement from the Account. If there is
52 insufficient money available to award a full scholarship to all eligible students,
53 existing law requires the State Treasurer to provide notice to certain entities and
54 disburse money from the Account in a certain manner. (NRS 396.9645, 396.968)
55 **Section 11** of this bill requires the Board of Regents to: (1) calculate the maximum
56 amount of the Scholarship each eligible student is eligible to receive; (2) determine
57 the actual amount, if any, the eligible student will receive; and (3) award a Nevada
58 Promise Scholarship to the student by disbursing money directly to the community
59 college in which the student is enrolled. **Section 11** also requires the State
60 Treasurer to disburse money from the Account to the Board of Regents upon
61 request and, if there is insufficient money in the Account, to provide notice to the
62 Board of Regents.



63 **Section 12** of this bill revises certain requirements relating to an annual report
64 that the Board of Regents must prepare and eliminates the requirement that a
65 community college maintain certain records relating to Nevada Promise
66 Scholarships.

67 **Section 15** repeals certain provisions relating to Nevada Promise Scholarships
68 to conform to the changes made in this bill.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, REPRESENTED IN
SENATE AND ASSEMBLY, DO ENACT AS FOLLOWS:

1 **Section 1.** Chapter 396 of NRS is hereby amended by adding
2 thereto the provisions set forth as sections 2 to 5, inclusive, of this
3 act.

4 **Sec. 2.** *“Academic year” means 2 consecutive semesters,*
5 *beginning with a fall semester, and 1 summer academic term at a*
6 *community college.*

7 **Sec. 3.** *“Program” means the Nevada Promise Scholarship*
8 *Program created by NRS 396.965.*

9 **Sec. 4.** *“Registration fee and other mandatory fees” means a*
10 *registration fee assessed per credit and mandatory fees assessed*
11 *per credit that are approved by the Board of Regents and charged*
12 *to all students by a community college. The term does not include*
13 *special course fees or fees charged for specific programs of study,*
14 *books or supplies even if such fees are considered necessary for*
15 *enrollment.*

16 **Sec. 5. 1.** *The Board of Regents may grant a leave of*
17 *absence from the Program to a student upon request. A student*
18 *may request a leave of absence for:*

19 (a) *An illness or serious medical problem of the student or a*
20 *member of the student’s immediate family;*

21 (b) *Extreme financial hardship for the student or a member of*
22 *the student’s immediate family;*

23 (c) *Engaging in any activity required or encouraged for*
24 *members of the student’s religious faith;*

25 (d) *Mobilization of the student’s unit of the Armed Forces of*
26 *the United States or National Guard; or*

27 (e) *Any other extraordinary circumstances beyond the control*
28 *of the student that would create a substantial hardship for the*
29 *student, as determined by the Board of Regents.*

30 2. *If the Board of Regents grants a leave of absence to a*
31 *student, the Board of Regents shall:*

32 (a) *Make a determination in accordance with regulations*
33 *adopted by the Board of Regents as to which requirements for*
34 *eligibility in the Program set forth in NRS 396.9665 are*
35 *appropriate to waive for the student; and*



1 (b) Waive requirements for eligibility as determined pursuant
2 to paragraph (a) for the student for the length of the leave of
3 absence.

4 3. The Board of Regents shall adopt regulations establishing:
5 (a) Procedures for a student to request a leave of absence
6 pursuant to subsection 1; and

7 (b) Criteria for determining appropriate requirements for
8 eligibility to waive for a student who has been granted a leave of
9 absence pursuant to subsection 2.

10 **Sec. 6.** NRS 396.961 is hereby amended to read as follows:
11 396.961 As used in NRS 396.961 to 396.9685, inclusive, *and*
12 *sections 2 to 5, inclusive, of this act*, unless the context otherwise
13 requires, the words and terms defined in NRS 396.9615 to 396.964,
14 inclusive, *and sections 2, 3 and 4 of this act* have the meanings
15 ascribed to them in those sections.

16 **Sec. 7.** NRS 396.9625 is hereby amended to read as follows:
17 396.9625 “Nevada Promise Scholarship” means a scholarship
18 awarded by ~~{a participating community college}~~ *the Board of*
19 *Regents* pursuant to NRS 396.968.

20 **Sec. 8.** NRS 396.9645 is hereby amended to read as follows:
21 396.9645 1. The Nevada Promise Scholarship Account is
22 hereby created in the State General Fund. The Account must be
23 administered by the State Treasurer.

24 2. The interest and income earned on:
25 (a) The money in the Account, after deducting any applicable
26 charges; and

27 (b) Unexpended appropriations made to the Account from the
28 State General Fund,
29 ➔ must be credited to the Account.

30 3. Any money remaining in the Account at the end of a fiscal
31 year, including, without limitation, any unexpended appropriations
32 made to the Account from the State General Fund, does not revert to
33 the State General Fund, and the balance in the Account must be
34 carried forward to the next fiscal year.

35 4. The State Treasurer may accept gifts and grants of money
36 from any source for deposit in the Account.

37 5. The money in the Account may only be used to distribute
38 money to ~~{participating community colleges}~~ *the Board of Regents*
39 for the purpose of awarding Nevada Promise Scholarships to
40 students who are eligible to receive ~~{or renew}~~ such scholarships
41 under the provisions of NRS 396.9665 . ~~{and 396.967.}~~

42 **Sec. 9.** NRS 396.965 is hereby amended to read as follows:
43 396.965 1. ~~{On or before October 1 of each year, each~~
44 ~~community college shall:~~



1 ~~—(a) Determine whether it will participate in the] *The Nevada*
2 *Promise Scholarship* [program established by NRS 396.961 to
3 396.9685, inclusive, for the immediately following school year; and
4 ~~—(b) Post on a publicly accessible Internet website maintained by~~
5 ~~the community college notice of the determination described in~~
6 ~~paragraph (a).~~~~

7 ~~2. Each community college that elects to participate in the]~~
8 *Program is hereby created for the purpose of awarding Nevada*
9 *Promise* [Scholarship program established by NRS 396.961 to
10 396.9685, inclusive, for the immediately following school year
11 shall:

12 ~~—(a) Conduct the activities required by NRS 396.9655 or enter~~
13 ~~into an agreement with one or more nonprofit organizations or~~
14 ~~governmental entities to conduct those activities.~~

15 ~~—(b) Allow an applicant or scholarship recipient]~~ *Scholarships to*
16 *eligible students to pay for the difference between the amount of*
17 *the registration fee and other mandatory fees charged to a student*
18 *by a community college for the academic year and the total*
19 *amount of any other gift aid received by the student for the*
20 *academic year.*

21 *2. The Board of Regents shall administer the Program.*

22 *3. In administering the Program, the Board of Regents shall*
23 *adopt regulations governing:*

24 *(a) The procedures and standards for determining the*
25 *eligibility of a student for a Nevada Promise Scholarship pursuant*
26 *to NRS 396.9665.*

27 *(b) An application process administered through the*
28 *community colleges which allows a student to participate in the*
29 *Program.*

30 *(c) Deadlines for a student to satisfy the requirements for*
31 *eligibility in the Program.*

32 *(d) A training program administered through the community*
33 *colleges which allows a student to satisfy the requirements of*
34 *paragraph (f) of subsection 1 of NRS 396.9665.*

35 *(e) A mentoring program administered through the community*
36 *colleges which allows a student to satisfy the requirements of*
37 *paragraph (g) of subsection 1 of NRS 396.9665.*

38 *(f) The criteria for completing the community service*
39 *requirements of paragraph (h) of subsection 1 of NRS 396.9665.*

40 *(g) Procedures which allow a student to appeal any adverse*
41 *decision concerning his or her eligibility to receive [or renew] a*
42 *Nevada Promise Scholarship . [under the provisions of NRS*
43 *396.9665 or 396.967 or request a waiver, for good cause, of the*
44 *requirements of paragraph (c) of subsection 2 of NRS 396.967*
45 *concerning continuous enrollment. If the participating community*



1 college has established a process by which a student may appeal
2 other decisions, the participating community college must use the
3 same process for appealing an adverse decision described in this
4 subsection.

5 ~~3. A participating~~

6 (h) *Procedures for a* community college ~~[may]~~ *to* accept gifts,
7 grants and donations from any source for the purposes of
8 ~~[administering] carrying out its duties under~~ the ~~[Nevada Promise~~
9 ~~Scholarship program established by NRS 396.961 to 396.9685,~~
10 ~~inclusive.] Program as prescribed by the Board of Regents.~~

11 4. *The Board of Regents may adopt regulations authorizing a*
12 *community college to enter into an agreement with one or more*
13 *nonprofit organizations or governmental entities to conduct any*
14 *activities required by the Board of Regents for a training program*
15 *which allows a student to satisfy the requirements of paragraph (f)*
16 *of subsection 1 of NRS 396.9665 and a mentoring program which*
17 *allows a student to satisfy the requirements of paragraph (g) of*
18 *subsection 1 of NRS 396.9665.*

19 5. *The Board of Regents may adopt any other regulations*
20 *necessary to carry out the Program.*

21 **Sec. 10.** NRS 396.9665 is hereby amended to read as follows:

22 396.9665 ~~[A student is]~~

23 1. *To be* eligible to receive a Nevada Promise Scholarship ~~[for~~
24 ~~the first school year in which the student is enrolled at a~~
25 ~~participating community college if the], a student [:~~

26 ~~1. Is] must:~~

27 (a) *Be* a bona fide resident of this State, as construed in NRS
28 396.540. ~~[, is less than 20 years of age and has]~~

29 (b) *Have* not previously been awarded an associate's degree or
30 bachelor's degree.

31 ~~[2. Has]~~

32 (c) *Have* obtained [:

33 ~~(a) A] a high school diploma awarded by a public or private~~
34 ~~high school located in this State or public high school that is located~~
35 ~~in a county that borders this State and accepts pupils who are~~
36 ~~residents of this State [;] or~~

37 ~~[(b) A general] have successfully completed the high school~~
38 ~~equivalency [diploma or equivalent document.~~

39 ~~3. Is not in default on any federal student loan and does not~~
40 ~~owe a refund to any federal program to provide aid to students.~~

41 ~~4. Before November 1 immediately preceding the school year~~
42 ~~for which the student wishes to receive a] assessment selected by~~
43 *the State Board pursuant to NRS 390.055 before 20 years of age.*



1 (d) Complete the application for the Nevada Promise
2 Scholarship ~~;~~ ~~submits an application in the form prescribed by the~~
3 ~~participating community college.~~

4 ~~—5.— On or before April 1 immediately preceding the school year~~
5 ~~for which the student wishes to receive a Nevada Promise~~
6 ~~Scholarship, completes] Program in accordance with the~~
7 ~~regulations prescribed by the Board of Regents.~~

8 (e) Complete the Free Application for Federal Student Aid
9 provided for by 20 U.S.C. § 1090 ~~;~~

10 ~~—6.— Receives an Expected Family Contribution from the United~~
11 ~~States Department of Education.~~

12 ~~—7.— Attends at least] for each academic year of participation in~~
13 ~~the Program on or before the deadline prescribed by the Board of~~
14 ~~Regents.~~

15 (f) Before enrolling in a community college, participate in one
16 training meeting ~~[held by a participating community college or local~~
17 ~~partnering organization pursuant to subsection 2 of NRS 396.9655~~
18 ~~and at least one such meeting held pursuant to subsection 3 of that~~
19 ~~section, or arranges to receive the training provided in those~~
20 ~~meetings at an alternate time pursuant to subsection 4 of that~~
21 ~~section.~~

22 ~~—8.— Before May 1 immediately preceding the school year for~~
23 ~~which the student wishes to receive a Nevada Promise Scholarship:~~

24 ~~—(a) Has] related to financial aid, the Free Application for~~
25 ~~Federal Student Aid and college orientation, as prescribed by the~~
26 ~~Board of Regents by regulation.~~

27 (g) Have met at least once with ~~[the] a~~ mentor assigned to the
28 student *through the mentoring program established by the Board*
29 *of Regents* pursuant to NRS ~~[396.9655].~~

30 ~~—(b) Completes] 396.965 before the first semester of enrollment~~
31 ~~at a community college and at least twice for each academic year~~
32 ~~while participating in the Program.~~

33 (h) Complete at least ~~[20] 8~~ hours of community service ~~[that~~
34 ~~meets the requirements of NRS 396.9675 and submits to the~~
35 ~~participating] during the last year of high school and before the~~
36 ~~first semester of enrollment at a community college [verification of~~
37 ~~the completion of that] and at least 8 hours of community service ~~;~~~~
38 ~~The verification must include:~~

39 ~~—(1) A description of the community] each semester~~
40 ~~thereafter, not including summer academic terms, while~~
41 ~~participating in the Program. Community service performed ~~;~~~~

42 ~~—(2) The dates on which the service was performed and the~~
43 ~~number of hours of] to satisfy the requirements of this paragraph~~
44 ~~must not include religious proselytizing or service [performed on~~
45 ~~each date;~~



1 ~~— (3) The name of the organization for which the service was~~
2 ~~performed; and~~

3 ~~— (4) The name of a person employed by the organization~~
4 ~~whom the participating community college may contact to verify the~~
5 ~~information contained in the verification.~~

6 ~~— (c) Submits} for which the student receives any type of~~
7 ~~compensation or which directly benefits a member of the family of~~
8 ~~the student.~~

9 (i) *Submit* all information deemed necessary by the
10 ~~{participating community college} Board of Regents~~ to determine
11 the ~~{applicant's} student's~~ eligibility for gift aid.

12 ~~{9. Is}~~

13 (j) *Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2, be* enrolled in
14 ~~{or plans to enroll in}~~ at least 12 semester credit hours in ~~{an~~
15 ~~associate's degree} a~~ program ~~{, a bachelor's}~~ of study leading to a
16 *recognized* degree ~~{program}~~ or ~~{a}~~ certificate ~~{of achievement~~
17 ~~program}~~ at a ~~{participating}~~ community college for ~~{each}~~ *the fall*
18 semester of the ~~{school}~~ *academic* year immediately following the
19 school year in which the student was awarded a high school diploma
20 or ~~{a general}~~ *have successfully completed the high school*
21 equivalency ~~{diploma or equivalent document.}~~ *assessment selected*
22 *by the State Board pursuant to NRS 390.055.*

23 (k) *Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2 and this*
24 *paragraph, be enrolled in at least 12 semester credit hours in a*
25 *program of study leading to a recognized degree or certificate at a*
26 *community college for each fall semester and spring semester*
27 *beginning with the first semester for which the student received a*
28 *Nevada Promise Scholarship, not including summer academic*
29 *terms. A student who is on schedule to graduate at:*

30 (1) *The end of a semester may enroll in the number of*
31 *semester credit hours required to graduate.*

32 (2) *The end of a fall semester is not required to enroll in*
33 *credit hours for the spring semester.*

34 (l) *Meet satisfactory academic progress, as defined by federal*
35 *requirements established pursuant to Title IV of the Higher*
36 *Education Act of 1965, 20 U.S.C. §§ 1001 et seq., and determined*
37 *by the community college in which the student is enrolled.*

38 2. *The Board of Regents shall establish criteria with respect*
39 *to students who have a documented physical or mental disability*
40 *or who were previously subject to an individualized education*
41 *program under the Individuals with Disabilities Act, 20 U.S.C. §§*
42 *1400 et seq., or a plan under Title V of the Rehabilitation Act of*
43 *1973, 29 U.S.C. §§ 791 et seq. The criteria must provide an*
44 *exemption for those students from:*



1 (a) *The limitation on eligibility for a Nevada Promise*
2 *Scholarship set forth in paragraph (b) of subsection 3; and*

3 (b) *The minimum number of credits prescribed in paragraphs*
4 *(j) and (k) of subsection 1.*

5 3. *A student who meets the requirements of subsection 1 is*
6 *eligible for a Nevada Promise Scholarship from the Program until*
7 *the occurrence of the first of the following events:*

8 (a) *The student is awarded an associate's degree or bachelor's*
9 *degree; or*

10 (b) *Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2, the student*
11 *receives a Nevada Promise Scholarship from the Program for 2*
12 *academic years, not including the initial academic year.*

13 **Sec. 11.** NRS 396.968 is hereby amended to read as follows:

14 396.968 1. ~~{Each participating community college}~~ *The*
15 *Board of Regents* shall award Nevada Promise Scholarships in
16 accordance with this section to students who are enrolled at ~~{the~~
17 ~~participating}~~ *a* community college and are eligible to receive ~~{or~~
18 ~~renew}~~ such scholarships under the provisions of NRS 396.9665 .
19 ~~{and 396.967.}~~

20 2. ~~{On or before July 1 of each year, a participating community~~
21 ~~college}~~ *For each eligible student, the Board of Regents* shall:

22 (a) ~~{Review all timely applications received pursuant to NRS~~
23 ~~396.9665 and 396.967 to determine the eligibility of each applicant~~
24 ~~for}~~ *Calculate the maximum amount of* a Nevada Promise
25 Scholarship ~~{and for gift aid;}~~ *which the student is eligible to*
26 *receive based on criteria established by regulation pursuant to this*
27 *section.*

28 (b) ~~{Review information submitted by each eligible applicant to~~
29 ~~determine the amount of}~~ *Determine the actual amount of the*
30 *Nevada Promise Scholarship, if any, which will be awarded to the*
31 *student, which must not exceed the maximum amount calculated*
32 *pursuant to paragraph (a), but which may be in a lesser amount if*
33 *the Board of Regents receives notice from the State Treasurer*
34 *pursuant to subsection 3 that the money available in the Nevada*
35 *Promise Scholarship* ~~{the student would receive under the provisions~~
36 ~~of subsection 6 and notify each applicant whether the applicant is}~~
37 *Account for any semester is insufficient to award to all* eligible ~~{to~~
38 ~~receive}~~ *students the maximum amount of* a Nevada Promise
39 Scholarship ~~{for the immediately following school year; and}~~ *which*
40 *each student is eligible to receive.*

41 (c) ~~{After reviewing applications pursuant to paragraph (a),~~
42 ~~submit to the State Treasurer the number of students whose~~
43 ~~applications have been approved and the amount of money that will~~
44 ~~be required to fund a scholarship for each eligible student pursuant~~
45 ~~to subsection 6 if no student receives additional gift aid.}~~ *If the*



1 *student is to receive a Nevada Promise Scholarship, award the*
2 *student a Nevada Promise Scholarship in the amount determined*
3 *pursuant to paragraph (b). The Board of Regents shall disburse*
4 *the amount of the Nevada Promise Scholarship awarded to the*
5 *student, on behalf of the student, directly to the community college*
6 *in which the student is enrolled.*

7 3. ~~[On the date prescribed by regulation of the State Treasurer,~~
8 ~~a participating community college] The Board of Regents shall~~
9 submit a request for a disbursement from the Nevada Promise
10 Scholarship Account created by NRS 396.9645 ~~[in] for~~ the
11 *maximum* amount ~~[prescribed by subsection 6] of money that will~~
12 *be required to fund a scholarship* for each eligible student.

13 ~~[4.— A participating community college shall use the money~~
14 ~~disbursed pursuant to subsection 5 to pay the difference between the~~
15 ~~amount of the registration fee and other mandatory fees charged to~~
16 ~~the student by the participating community college for the school~~
17 ~~year, excluding any amount of those fees that is waived by the~~
18 ~~participating community college, and the total amount of any other~~
19 ~~gift aid received by the student for the school year. The community~~
20 ~~college shall not refund to a student any money disbursed to the~~
21 ~~participating community college pursuant to subsection 5.~~

22 ~~—5.] Within the limits of money available in the Nevada Promise~~
23 ~~Scholarship Account, the State Treasurer shall disburse [to a~~
24 ~~participating community college] the amount requested [pursuant to~~
25 ~~subsection 3.] to the Board of Regents for disbursement to each~~
26 *community college.* If there is insufficient money in the Account to
27 disburse that amount to each ~~[participating] community college [~~

28 ~~—(a) The], the State Treasurer shall [determine whether there is~~
29 ~~sufficient money in the Account to disburse the amount requested~~
30 ~~for all students who applied to renew a Nevada Promise Scholarship~~
31 ~~and disburse the available money in the Account to each~~
32 ~~participating community college in the following manner:~~

33 ~~——(1) If there is insufficient money in the Account to disburse~~
34 ~~the amount requested for all students who applied to renew a~~
35 ~~Nevada Promise Scholarship, the State Treasurer shall not disburse~~
36 ~~any amount requested for first time recipients of a Nevada Promise~~
37 ~~Scholarship and shall disburse money to each participating~~
38 ~~community college to fund a scholarship for each student who~~
39 ~~applied to renew a Nevada Promise Scholarship, in the order in~~
40 ~~which applications were received by the participating community~~
41 ~~college, until the money in the Account is exhausted; and~~

42 ~~——(2) If there is sufficient money in the Account to disburse the~~
43 ~~amount requested for all students who applied to renew a Nevada~~
44 ~~Promise Scholarship, the State Treasurer shall first disburse the~~
45 ~~money requested by each participating community college for all~~



1 ~~students who applied to renew a Nevada Promise Scholarship and~~
2 ~~then disburse money to each participating community college to~~
3 ~~fund a scholarship for each student who applied for the first time to~~
4 ~~receive a Nevada Promise Scholarship, in the order in which~~
5 ~~applications were received by the participating community college,~~
6 ~~until the money in the Account is exhausted.~~

7 ~~—(b) The State Treasurer shall~~ provide notice that insufficient
8 money remains in the Nevada Promise Scholarship Account to ~~;~~

9 ~~—(1) The Director of the Legislative Counsel Bureau for~~
10 ~~transmittal to the Legislative Committee on Education, the~~
11 ~~Legislative Commission and next regular session of the Legislature;~~
12 ~~and~~

13 ~~—(2) The board of trustees of each school district and the~~
14 ~~governing body of each charter school in this State. Upon receiving~~
15 ~~such notice, the board of trustees or governing body, as applicable,~~
16 ~~shall notify each pupil who is enrolled in a school in the district or~~
17 ~~the charter school and is on schedule to receive a standard high~~
18 ~~school diploma at the end of the current school year.~~

19 ~~—(c) A participating community college shall~~ *the Board of*
20 *Regents. The State Treasurer shall include in the notice the*
21 *amount of money available for the* award of Nevada Promise
22 Scholarships ~~[in accordance with the provisions of paragraph (a) in~~
23 ~~a manner that gives priority first to students applying for renewal of~~
24 ~~a Nevada Promise Scholarship and then to applications received by~~
25 ~~the participating community college pursuant to NRS 396.9665, in~~
26 ~~the order in which they were received.~~

27 ~~—6. Within the limits of money available in the~~ *for the*
28 *academic year and request that a new request be submitted.*

29 *4. The Board of Regents shall adopt regulations prescribing:*

30 *(a) The criteria for determining the maximum amount of a*
31 Nevada Promise Scholarship ~~[Account, the amount of money~~
32 ~~awarded to a scholarship recipient pursuant to this section must be]~~
33 *for an eligible student which is* equal to the difference between the
34 amount of the registration fee and other mandatory fees charged to
35 the student by the ~~[participating]~~ community college *in which the*
36 *student is enrolled* for the ~~[school]~~ *academic* year, excluding any
37 amount of those fees that is waived by the ~~[participating]~~
38 community college ~~;~~ *in which the student is enrolled,* and the total
39 amount of any other gift aid received by the student for the ~~[school]~~
40 *academic* year.

41 *(b) The procedures for submitting a request for disbursement*
42 *from the Nevada Promise Scholarship Account.*

43 *(c) The procedures and standards for determining the actual*
44 *amount of the Nevada Promise Scholarship which will be awarded*
45 *to each student upon receiving notice that there is insufficient*



1 *money to award all eligible students the maximum amount of the*
2 *scholarship which each student is eligible to receive. Such*
3 *procedures and standards may include, without limitation,*
4 *administration of the program on a first-come, first-served basis*
5 *for all students eligible to participate in the Program.*

6 *(d) Procedures to ensure that all money from a Nevada*
7 *Promise Scholarship awarded to a student that is refunded in*
8 *whole or in part for any reason is refunded to the Nevada Promise*
9 *Scholarship Account and not the student.*

10 **Sec. 12.** NRS 396.9685 is hereby amended to read as follows:

11 396.9685 1. On or before August 1 of each year, the Board of
12 Regents shall:

13 (a) Review all Nevada Promise Scholarships awarded for the
14 immediately preceding ~~[school]~~ *academic* year;

15 (b) Compile a report for the immediately preceding ~~[school]~~
16 *academic* year, which must include the number of *students who*
17 *applied for a scholarship, the number of students who received a*
18 *scholarship, [recipients,] the total cost associated with the award of*
19 *Nevada Promise Scholarships, the total number of hours of*
20 *community service performed pursuant to NRS 396.9665, [and*
21 *396.967.] the [overall] graduation rate of students who received a*
22 *scholarship [recipients, the graduation rate of scholarship recipients*
23 *enrolled at each participating community college,] and the [overall]*
24 *scholarship retention rate ; [and the scholarship retention rate for*
25 *students at each participating community college;] and*

26 (c) Submit the report to the Director of the Legislative Counsel
27 Bureau for transmittal to:

28 (1) In even-numbered years, the next regular session of the
29 Legislature; and

30 (2) In odd-numbered years, the Legislative Committee on
31 Education.

32 2. ~~[A participating community college shall maintain a record~~
33 ~~for each scholarship recipient for at least 3 years after the end of the~~
34 ~~final school year for which he or she receives a scholarship. Such a~~
35 ~~record must include:~~

36 ~~—(a) The name of the scholarship recipient;~~

37 ~~—(b) The total amount of money awarded to the scholarship~~
38 ~~recipient and the amount of money awarded to the scholarship~~
39 ~~recipient each school year;~~

40 ~~—(c) The courses in which the scholarship recipient enrolled and~~
41 ~~the courses completed by the scholarship recipient;~~

42 ~~—(d) The grades received by the scholarship recipient;~~

43 ~~—(e) Whether the scholarship recipient is currently enrolled in the~~
44 ~~participating community college and, if not, whether he or she~~



1 ~~earned an associate's degree, a bachelor's degree or a certificate of~~
2 ~~achievement; and~~

3 ~~—(f) The records of community service submitted by the~~
4 ~~scholarship recipient pursuant to NRS 396.9665 and 396.967.~~

5 ~~—3. Except as otherwise provided in this section, the Board of~~
6 ~~Regents and the State Treasurer may at any time audit the practices~~
7 ~~used by a participating community college or local partnering~~
8 ~~organization to carry out the provisions of NRS 396.961 to~~
9 ~~396.9685, inclusive. The Board of Regents and State Treasurer shall~~
10 ~~not conduct an audit less than 6 months after the most recently~~
11 ~~conducted audit.~~

12 ~~—4. A participating community college shall provide the Board~~
13 ~~of Regents and the State Treasurer with access to the records~~
14 ~~maintained pursuant to subsection 2 for the purposes of an annual~~
15 ~~report compiled pursuant to subsection 1 or an audit conducted~~
16 ~~pursuant to subsection 3. Those records are otherwise confidential~~
17 ~~and are not public records.~~

18 ~~—5.] As used in this section, “scholarship retention rate” means~~
19 ~~the percentage of *students who received a* scholarship [recipients]~~
20 ~~for the [school] *academic* year immediately preceding the [school]~~
21 ~~*academic* year to which a report compiled pursuant to subsection 1~~
22 ~~pertains who did not graduate by the end of that [school] *academic*~~
23 ~~year and who also received a Nevada Promise Scholarship for the~~
24 ~~[school] *academic* year to which the report pertains.~~

25 **Sec. 13.** The amendatory provisions of paragraph (h) of
26 subsection 1 of NRS 396.9665, as amended by section 10 of this act,
27 apply to any student who obtained a high school diploma or
28 successfully completed the high school equivalency assessment
29 selected by the State Board of Education pursuant to NRS 390.055
30 on or after June 1, 2018.

31 **Sec. 14.** The provisions of subsection 1 of NRS 218D.380 do
32 not apply to any provision of this act which adds or revises a
33 requirement to submit a report to the Legislature.

34 **Sec. 15.** NRS 396.962, 396.963, 396.9635, 396.964, 396.9655,
35 396.966, 396.967 and 396.9675 are hereby repealed.

36 **Sec. 16.** This act becomes effective upon passage and approval
37 for the purposes of adopting regulations and performing any other
38 administrative tasks that are necessary to carry out the provisions of
39 this act, and on July 1, 2019, for all other purposes.



LEADLINES OF REPEALED SECTIONS

- 396.962** “Local partnering organization” defined.
- 396.963** “Participating community college” defined.
- 396.9635** “Scholarship recipient” defined.
- 396.964** “School year” defined.
- 396.9655** Participating community college or local partnering organization to hold certain training meetings; make-up meetings; establishment of mentoring program for scholarship applicants and recipients; maintenance and posting of list of community service opportunities.
- 396.966** Eligibility to serve as mentor in mentoring program.
- 396.967** Renewal of Nevada Promise Scholarship.
- 396.9675** Ineligibility for Scholarship for submitting false or misleading information; deadlines; prohibition against certain community service to satisfy requirements.

